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Independent auditors’ report

To the Shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company = KPSC
Kuwait

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Al Mal Investment Company — Kuwaiti Public
Shareholding Company (the “Parent Company’) and Subsidiaries, (collectively the “Group”), which
compnse the consolidated statement of financial positon as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit ot loss other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial posiion of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditng (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Acconntants
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below as the key
audit matters.

Valuation of investments held at fair value

The Group invests in various asset classes, of which 15% of the total assets represent investments which are carried at fair value
and classified either as investments at fair value through profit or loss or as avatlable for sale investments. The investments are
Jair valued on a basis considered most appropriate by the management, depending on the nature of the investment, and the
valuation is performed by the Group using a fair value hierarchy as detatled in note 28.3. 22% of these investments are carvied
at fair value based on Ievel 1 valuations, and the balance 78% of these investments are carvied at fair value either based on
Level 2 or Level 3 valuations. Fair value measurement can be a subjective area and more so for the investments classified under
level 2 and level 3 since these are valued using inputs other than quoted prices in an active market. Given the inberent subjectivity
in valuation of investments classified under level 2 and level 3 we determined this to be a key audit matter. Refer to Note 5.12.2,
5.12.6, 15, 17 and 28.3 for more information on fair valuation of avatlable for sale investments and investments at fair value
through statement of profit or loss.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC (continued)

Valuation of investments held at fair value (continued)

Our audit procedures inciuded, among others, documenting and assessing the processes in plave to fair value these investments,
agreeing the carrying value of the investments to the Group's internal valuations prepared using valuation technigues, discussing
with management and assessing and challenging the appropriateness of estimates, assumptions and valuation methodology and
obtaining supporting documentation and explanations to corroborate the valuations.

Investment Property valuations

The Group’s investment properties represent 37% of the total assets and comprise of land and rental buildings located in GCC
and other Middle Eastern countries. The Groups poltey is that property valuations are performed at year end by external
valuators, as detailed in note 28.4. These valuations are based on number of assumptions, including estimated rental revenues,
capitalization yields, historical transactions, market knowledge, occupancy rates and cost of constructions. Given the fact that the
Sair value of the investment properties represent a significant judgment area and the valuations are bighly dependent on estimates
we determined this to be a key audit matter. Refer to Note 5.10, 20 and 28.4 for more information on the valuation of the
Investment Properties.

Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing the appropriateness of management’s process _for reviewing and assessing
the work of the external valuers and their valuations including management's consideration of competence and independence of the
external valwers. We reviewed the valuation reports from the external valuers and agreed them to the carrying value of the
properties. We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies used in assessing the fatr value of the investment
properties including discussions with the management on the estimales, assumptions and valuation methodology used in assessing
the fair value of investment properties, We furthermore assessed that the property related data (i.e rental income and occupancy)
used as input for the external valuations is consistent with information obtained during onr andst.

Carrying value of investment in associates & shares of results of associates

The investment in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting and considered for impatrment in case of
indication of impairment. The investment in associates is significant lo onr audit due to the Group’s share of results in the
assoviates, the carrying value of those associates and the fact that valuation technigues, which require judgement and estimates,
bave been used 1o value the underlying investments in an associate as detailed in note 19. In addition the management uses
Judgements and estimates to assess whether there i any impairment of investment in associates . Accordingly, we considered this
as a key audit matter. Refer to Note 3.4 and 19 for more information on invesiment in associates.

Our audit work included, among others, evaluating management’s considerations of the impairment indicators of investment in
associates. We also oblained the latest financial information from the significant associates and reviewed the equity accounting
method followed by the management of the Group. We also assessed the reasonableness of the external valuation used by the
assoctate lo value its significant underlying investment and discussed with management the appropriateness of estimates,
assumptions and valuation methodology used in the valuation.

Provision for refundable development expenses

During the year, the Group recognized a provision of KD12,768,326 against refundable development expenses in line with
Central Bank of Kuwait requirements. Due to the significance of this amount 1o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the significance of the related disclosures with regard to the legal dispute relating to this amount, we have onsidered this as a key
andit matter. Refer to Note 16 for more information on the refundable development expenses.

Our audst work included, among others, discussing with management the adeguacy of the provision, the mechanism followed in
arriving at the required provision and assessing the appropriateness of the calculations involved. We also obtained and read the
Group lawyers’ opinion regarding the status of the legal proceedings as of the reporting date and reviewed the correspondence with
the legal counsel and discussed with management fo understand the legal position taken by the Group in relation to this matter.
We also reviewed the disclosures made within the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC (continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2016 annual report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Group’s 2016 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, prior to the date of our
auditors’ report and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s Annual Report after the date
of our auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other accompanying informaton
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other informaton is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we have obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there 1s a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilitics of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
abtlity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management cither intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they couid
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Ideniify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attenton in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achicves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report
that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that
the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No.
1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law, the Executive Regulations, or of the
Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred
during the year ended 31 December 2016 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial
position of the Parent Company.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)

We further report that, during the course of our audit and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we have
not become aware of any material violations of the provisions of Law 7 of 2010, as amended, relating to the
Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2016 that might
have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware, of any material violations
of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and
the organisation of the banking business, and its related regulations dunng the year ended 31 December 2016
that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the

=
s

Anwar Y. Al-Qatami, F.C.C.A. Hend™ surayea

(Licence No. 50-A} (Licence Mg

of Grant Thomton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners Hend ApdUlkh Al Surayea & Co.

Kuwait
27 March 2017



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2016 2015
KD KD
Income
Unrealised (loss)/gain from investments at fair value through profit or
loss 15 (521,022) 366,703
Realised gain from investments at fair value through profit or loss 15 24,006 -
Realised gain on disposal of available for sale investments 237,875 80,470
Realised gain on disposal of investment properties 2,732 -
Gain on settlement of bonds 23 - 270,000
Gain on reversa! of finance costs due to debt to equity swap 10 - 1,005,017
Gain on conversion of debt to equity 242 - 9,323,309
Loss on disposal of investment in sukuk 18 - {56,741)
Dividend income 356,476 169,091
Net income from communication services 8 56,590 90,180
Management fees and other income 9 751,298 1,990,546
Share of results of associates 19 (3,441,879) (1,421,522)
Change in fair value of investment properties 20 {68,184) 366,239
Interest income 27,586 25,364
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain {162,317} 113,502
{2,736,839) 12,412,158
Expenses and other charges
Finance cosis 11 207,489 386,791
Staff costs 1,349,751 997,042
General, administrative and other expenses 859,393 894,997
Provision for refundable development expenses 16.2 12,768,326 3,199,675
Impairment of receivable and other assets 46,506 -
Impairment of goodwill 90,332 -
Impairment of available for sale investments 174 239,816 557,002
15,561,613 6,035,507
(Loss)/profit for the year (18,298,452) 6,376,651
Attributable to :
Owners of the Parent Company (18,286,765) 6,256,744
Non-controlling interests (11,687) 119,907
(18,298,452) 6,376,651
Basic and diluted (loss)/profit per share attributable to the owners
of the Parent Company 13 {27.31) Fils 10.19 Fils

The notes set out on pages 12 to 57 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD

{Loss)/profit for the year {18,298,452) 6,376,651
Other comprehensive income:
ltemns that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations {1,382,933) (144,582)
Available for sale investments:
- Net changes in fair value arising during the year {591,716) 440,237
- Transferred 1o consolidated stalement of profit or loss on disposal {27,680) (37,193)
- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment 239,816 557,002
Share of other comprehensive income of associates {36,027} (492,512)
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to statement of profit or loss in

subsequent periods (1,798,540} 322,952
Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to statement of profit or

loss in subseguent periods - -
Total other comprehensive income for the year {1,798,540) 322,952
Total comprehensive income for the year (20,096,992) 6,699,603
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Parent Company {19,711,453) 6,594,718

Non-controlling interests (385,539) 104,885

(20,096,992) 6,699,603

The notes set out on pages 12 to 57 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2016 2015
KD KD
Assets
Cash and cash equivalenis 14 4,240,051 5,301,713
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 15 1,466,408 1,994,505
Accounts receivable and other assets 16 5,348,395 18,423,438
Available for sale investments 17 4,283,242 5,961,240
Investment in bonds 100,000 -
Investment in associates 19 5,330,347 0,287,632
Investment properties 20 12,494,394 12,469,049
Propertly and equipment 143,309 138,568
Goodwill - 90,332
Total assets 33,406,146 53,666,477
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 21 10,434,534 10,264,198
Borrowings 22 3,606,871 4,039,496
Bonds 23 900,000 900,000
Employees' end of service indemnity 497,596 398,646
Total liabilities 15,439,001 15,602,340
Equity
Share capital 24 66,954,351 66,954,351
Foreign currency translation reserve 25 (2,107,989} (1,087,634)
Cumulative changes in fair value 25 7.698 412,031
Accumulated losses (47,905,760) (29,618,995}
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 16,948,300 36,659,753
Non-controlling interests 25 1,018,845 1,404,384
Total equity 17,967,145 38,064,137
Total liabilities and equity 33,406,146 53,666,477

P
M
e —

Abdulkareem Abdullah Al-Mutawa Abdul W. a:'tnan Al-Mufawa

Chairman Directo ef Exedutive Officer

The notes set out on pages 12 to 57 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

11

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2016 2015
KD KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit for the year (18,298,452) 6,376,651
Adjustments for:
Provision for refundable development expenses 12,768,326 3,199,675
Impairment of receivable and other assels 46,506 -
Impaiment of goodwill 90,332 -
Impairment of available for sale investments 239,816 557,002
Change in fair value of investrment properties 68,184 {366,239)
(Gain on settlement of bonds - (270,000)
Gain on reversal of finance costs due to debt to equity swap - {1,095,017)
Gain on conversion of debt to equity - {9,323,309)
Loss on disposal of investment in sukuk - 56,741
Realised gain on disposal of investment properties {2,732) -
Realised gain on disposal of available for sale investments (237,875) (60,470)
Dividend income (356,476) (169,081)
Share of results of associates 3,441,879 1,421,522
Depreciation 51,431 28,063
Provision for employees end of service benefits 131,95¢ 117,484
Interest income {27,586) {25,364}
Finance costs 207,489 386,791

(1,877,199) 814,439
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Invesiments at fair value through profit or loss 528,097 (1,994 ,505)
Accounts receivable and other assets 260,211 (1,617,746)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 33,939 (488,979)
Cash used in operations (1,064,952) (3,286,791)
Employee end of service benefits paid {38,709) (25,226)
Net cash used in operating activities {1,093,661) {3,312,017)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale/redemption of available for sale investments 1,296,477 626,485
Additions to available for sale investments - (711,632)
Net change in sukuk - 40,383
Proceeds from sale of investment in sukuk - 46,182
Additions to investment in bonds {100,000) -
Additions to property and equipment {56,172) {116,881)
Additions to investment properties (1,080,931} (412,868)
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 31,601 25,202
Dividend received from associates 166,962 1,302,719
Dividend income received 356,476 169,091
Interest income received 27,586 25,364
Net cash from investing activities 631,999 994,045
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in deposits maturing afier three months - 600,000
Repayment of borrowings and bonds (432,625) (1,521,147)
Purchase of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary - {47.750)
Finance costs paid (167,375} (386,791)
Net cash used in financing activities {600,000} (1,355,688}
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,061,662) (3.673,660)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5,301,713 8,975,373
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 4,240,051 5,301,713

The notes set ont on pages 12 to 57 form an integral part of these consolidated finandial statements.



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries 12
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and activities

Al Mal Investment Company — KPSC, (“the Parent Company”), is a Kuwaiti Public Shareholding Company
established on 2 January 1980 under the Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 1960 and amendments
thereto. The Parent Company is regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait and the Capital Market Authority as
an investment company and its shares are listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. The Parent Company and its
subsidiaries (listed 1n note 7) are together referred as “the Group™.

The principal objectives of the Parent Company are as follows:

Investment in various economic sectors through participating in establishing specialised companies or
purchasing securities or shares in those companies;

- Act as investment trustees and manage different investment portfolios for others; and

- Act as intermediary in botrowing operations in return for commission;

Further, the Parent Company has the right to participate and subscribe, in any way with other firms which
operate in the same field or those which would assist in achieving its objectives in Kuwait and abroad and to
purchase those firms or participate in their equity.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is Arabian Gulf Street, Ahmed Tower, Floor 22, PO
Box 26308, Safat 13124, State of Kuwait.

The new Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 was issued on 24 January 2016 and published in the Official Gazette
on 1 February 2016 in which they have cancelled Law No. 25 of 2012 and its amendments thereto, as
stipulated in article (5) thereto. The new Law will be effective retrospectively from 26 November 2012. The
Executive Regulations of Law No. 1 of 2016 were issued on 12 July 2016.

The board of directors authorised these consolidated financial statements for issue on 27 March 2017. The
general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial
statements after issuance.

The annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 were authorised for
issuance by the board on 29 March 2016 and approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
held on 16 May 2016.

2 Basis of preparation

Basis of preparation
"The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include
the measurement of investments at fair value through profit or loss, available for sale financial assets and
investment properties.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwait Dinars (KD).

The Group has elected to present the “statement of comprehensive income” in two statements: the
“statement of profit or loss” and a “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income™.

3 Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as modified by
the State of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by Central Bank of Kuwait.

These regulations require adoption of all IFRS except for the IAS 39 requirement for collective impatrment
provision, which has been replaced by the Central Bank of Kuwait requirement for a minimum general
provision as described under the accounting policy for impairment of financial assets.
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4

Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent
with those used in previous year, except for the adoption of new and amended standards discussed below:

4.1

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
which have been adopted by the Group but did not have any significant impact on the financial position or
the results for the year. Information on these new standards is presented below:

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning
IAS 1 'Disclosure Initative - Amendments 1 January 2016
IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarificadon of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation - Amendments 1 January 2016
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Enttes: Applying the
Consolidation Exception - Amendments 1 January 2016
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle 1 January 2016

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 1 make the following changes:

Materiality. The amendments clarify that (1) information should not be obscured by aggregating or by
providing immaterial information, (2) materiality considerations apply to the all parts of the financial
statements, and {3) even when a standard requires a specific disclosure, materiality considerations do
apply.

Statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The amendments (1)
introduce a clarification that the list of line items to be presented in these statements can be
disaggregated and aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements and
(2) clarify that an entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be
presented in aggregate as single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified
to profit or loss.

Notes: The amendments add additional examples of possible ways of ordering the notes to clarify that
understandability and comparability should be considered when determining the order of the notes
and to demonstrate that the notes need not be presented in the order so far listed in paragraph 114
of IAS 1. The IASB also removed guidance and examples with regard to the identification of
significant accounting policies that were perceived as being potentially unhelpful.

IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation -
Amendments
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets address the following

matters:

a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that includes the use
of an asset is not appropriate for property, plant and equipment

an amortisadon method that is based on the revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of
an intangible asset is generally inappropriate except for limited circumstances

expected future reductions in the selling price of an item that was produced using an asset could
indicate the expectation of technological or commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in tumn,
might reflect a reduction of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
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4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the group (continued)

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 'Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception -
Amendments
The Amendments are aimed at clarifying the following aspects:

o Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements. The amendments confirm that the exemption
from preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate parent entity is available to a
parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment endity, even if the investment entity measures all of
its subsidiaries at fair value.

o A subsidiary providing services that relate lo the parent's investment activities. A subsidiary that provides services
related to the parent's investment activities should not be consolidated if the subsidiary itself is an
investment entity.

o Application of the equity method by a non-investment entity investor lo an investment entity investee. When applying
the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity investor in an
investment entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate or joint venture to
its interests in subsidiaries.

o Disclosures required. An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value provides the
disclosures relating to investment entities required by IFRS 12.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

(ii) Amendments to IFRS 7 - Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is contnuing
involvement in a transferred asset, and clarification on offsetting disclosures in condensed interim financial
statermnents

(v} Amendments to LAS 34 - Clarify the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and require a cross-
reference

4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments
and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been published
but are not expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows- Amendments 1 January 2017

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments No stated date

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

LAS 40 Investment Property — Amendments 1 jJanuary 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 1 January 2017 and 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries 15
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 1ASB Standards issued but not yet effective {continued)

IAS 7 Statemnent of Cash Flows- Amendments

The Amendments are designed to improve the quality of information provided to users of financial
statements about changes in an entity’s debt and related cash flows (and noncash changes)

The Amendments:

¢ require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities. An entity applies its judgement when determining the exact form and content of
the disclosures needed to satsfy this requirement

* suggest a number of specific disclosures that may be necessary in order to satisfy the above
requirement, including:

o changes in liabilities arising from financing activities caused by changes in financing cash
flows, foreign exchange rates or fair values, or obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or
other businesses

o a reconciliaion of the opening and closing balances of liabilides arising from financing
activities in the statement of financial position including those changes identified
immediately above.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments

The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its
associate or joint venture, as follows:

® require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or
contribution of assets that constifute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)

¢ require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not consttute a business, i.e. a
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution
of assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, early
implementation is allowed. These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014}, representing the completon of its project to
replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The new standard introduces
extensive changes to IAS 39s guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and
introduces a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides
new guidance on the application of hedge accounting.
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4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Management has started to assess the impact of IFRS 9 but is not yet in a position to provide quantified
information. At this stage the main areas of expected impact are as follows:

e the classification and measurement of the financial assets will need to be reviewed based on the new
criteria that considers the assets’ contractual cash flows and the business model in which they are
managed.

» an expected credit loss-based impairment will need to be recognised on the trade receivables and
investments in debt-type assets cutrently classified as available for sale and held-to-maturity, unless
classified as at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the new criteria.

e it will no longer be possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all such
investments will instead be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value will be presented in profit or
loss unless an irrevocable designation is made to present them in other comprehensive income. This
will affect the Group’s investment amounting to KID616,436 (see note 17.1) if still held on 1 January
2018.

e if the fair value option continues to be elected for certain financial liabilities, fair value movements
will be presented in other comprehensive income to the extent those changes relate to own credit
risk.

Although earlier application of this standard is permitted, the Technical Committee of the Ministry of
Commerce and Industry of Kuwait decided on 30 December 2009, to postpone this early application ll
further notice.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 replaced IAS 18 “Revenues”, IAS 11 “Construction Contract” and several revenue — related
Interpretations and provides a new control-based revenue recognition model using five-step approach to all
contracts with customers.

The five steps in the model are as follows:
o Identify the contract with the customer
® Identify the performance obligations in the contract
» Determine the transaction price
¢ Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts
s Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The standard includes important guidance, such as

e Contracts involving the delivery of two or more goods or services — when to account separately for
the individual performance obligations in a muldple element arrangement, how to allocate the
transaction price, and when to combine contracts

* Timing ~ whether revenue is required to be recognized over time or at a single point in time

Variable pricing and credit risk — addressing how to treat arrangements with variable or contingent
(e.g. performance-based) pricing, and introducing an overall constraint on revenue

¢ Time value — when to adjust a contract price for a financing component
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) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

*  Specific 1ssues, including -
o non-cash consideration and asset exchanges
contract Costs
rights of return and other customer options
supplier repurchase options
warranties
principal versus agent
licencing
breakage
non-refundable upfront fees, and
consignment and bill-and-hold arrangements.

o0O0O0O0O0O0O0O0

The Group’s management has yet to assess the impact of this standard on these consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and three related Interpretations. Leases will be recorded on the statement of
financial position in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

Management is yet to fully assess the impact of the Standard and therefore is unable to provide quantified
information. However, in order to determune the impact, management is in the process of:

e performing a full review of all agreements to assess whether any additional contracts will now
become a lease under IFRS 16’s new definition

» deciding which transitional provision to adopt; either full retrospective application or partial
retrospective application (which means comparatives do not need to be restated). The partal
application method also provides optional relief from reassessing whether contracts in place are, or
contain, a lease, as well as other reliefs. Deciding which of these practical expedients to adopt is
important as they are one-off choices

e assessing their current disclosures for finance and operating leascs as these are likely to form the basis
of the amounts to be capitalised and become right-of-use assets

¢ determining which optional accounting simplifications apply to their lease portfolio and if they are
going to use these exemptions

¢ assessing the additional disclosures that will be required.

IAS 40 Investment Properties - Amendments

The Amendments to IAS 40 clarifies that transfers to, or from, investment property are required when, and
only when, there is a change in use of property supported by evidence. The amendments also re-characterise
the list of circumstances appearing in paragraph 57(a)—(d) as a non-exhaustive list of examples of evidence
that a change in use has occurred. The Board has also clarified that a change in management’s intent, by itself,
does not provide sufficient evidence that a change in use has occurred. Evidence of a change in use must be
observable.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

(i) Amendments to IFRS 12 - Clarifies the scope of IFRS 12 by specifying that its disclosure requirements
(except for those in IFRS 12. B17) apply to an entity's interests irrespective of whether they are classified (or
included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale or as discontinued operations in accordance
with IFRS 5. Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

(i) Amendments to L45 28 - Clarifies that a qualifying entity is able to choose between applying the equity
method or measuring an investment in an associate or joint venture at fair value through profit or loss,
separately for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition of the associate or joint venture.
Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretations looks at what exchange rate to use for transladon when payments are made or received in
advance of the related asset, expense or income. A diversity was observed in practice in circumstances in
which an entity recognises a non-monetary liability arising from advance consideration. The diversity resulted
from the fact that some entities were recognising revenue using the spot exchange rate at the date of the
receipt of the advance consideration while others were using the spot exchange rate at the date that revenue
was recognized. IFRIC 22 addresses this issue by clarifying that the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of
it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

5 Summary of significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies and measurements bases adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are summarised below:

5.1 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and they are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31 December. The details of the
significant subsidiaries are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset
sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries 19
Cansolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.1 Basis of consclidation (continued)

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the date the Group gains control, or untl the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary, as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group arttributes total comprehensive income ot loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective
ownership interests. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that
results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity

Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received
Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income
to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group has directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

5.2 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes
the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs
are expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests
in the acquirce either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisiion date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the
acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be
asset or lability will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as change to other
comprehensives income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured
undl it is finally settled within other comprehensive income.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.2 Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of
the sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and ¢) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the
acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum
calculated above, the excess amount (ie. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

5.3 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not
individually identified and separately recognised. See note 6 for information on how goodwill is initially
determined. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer to note 6.2.1 for a
description of impairment testing procedures.

54 Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither
subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initally recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s
share in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in
associates.

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

The share of results of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This
is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling
intetests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months.
Adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and
the date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to
those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

After applicatdon of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each
reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the ‘share of results of an associate’ in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining
investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.5 Segment reporting

The Group has three operating segments: Investment, real estate and finance segments. In identifying these
operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its main products
and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different approaches
and other resources.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its financial
statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment are not allocated to a segment.

5.6 Revenue
Revenue arises from rendering of services, investing activities and real estate activities. It is measured by
reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when payment is made. The following specific recognition
criteria should also be met before revenue is recognised;

5.6.1 Rendering of services
The Group earns rental income from operating leases of its investment properties. Rental income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

The Group earns fees and commission income from diverse range of asset management, investment banking,
custody and brokerage services provided to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two
categories:

e Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time
Fees carned for the provision of setvices over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees
include commission income and asset management, custody and other management fees.

o Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees arising for rendering specific advisory services, brokerage services, equity and debt placement
transactions for a third party or arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for
a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

The Group also earns income from communication services (from Tarasul Telecom) and are recorded when
services are rendered.

5.6.2 Interest and sukuk income
Sukuk and interest income are recognised on a time proportion basis using effective interest method.

5.6.3 Revenue from sale of investment properties

Revenue from sale of investment properties is recognised on completion of sale contract and after
transferring the risk and rewards associated with the Real Estate to the purchaser and the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured.

5.6.4 Dividend income
Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the right to
receive payment is established.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.7 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their
orngin.

5.8 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance
COSLS.

5.9 Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The
Group depreciates its property and equipment using the straight-line method at rates sufficient to write off
the assets over their estimated useful economic lives.

5.10 Investment propertics
Investment properties arc praperties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted
for using the fair value model.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, investment
properties are re-measured at fair value on an individual basis based on valuations by independent real estate
valuers and are included in the consolidated statement of financial position. Changes in fair value are taken to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investment properties are de-recognised when cither they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to
the date of change in use.

511 Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest
level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as
equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets ot
cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries 23
Consolidated Financia!l Statements
31 December 2016

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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5.11 Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To
determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-
generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved
budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effect of future reorganisations and asseis enhancements.
Discount factors are determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generatng unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

5.12 Financial instruments

5.12.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initally at fair value adjusted by transactions costs,
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the
entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised when:

® rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;

* the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’
arrangement; and either
{») the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial lability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substandally modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
512  Financial instruments (continued)

5.12.2 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon
inidal recognition:

* loans and receivables
« financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
* available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.

All financial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting
date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which
are described below.

All significant income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are
presented, under separate headings in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

¢ Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other
objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not considered to
be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the
industry and region of a counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics. The impairment loss
estimate is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for each identified group.

In addition, in accordance with Central Bank of Kuwait instructions, a minimum general provision is made
on all applicable credit facilides (net of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically.

The Group categorises loans and receivables into following categories:

o Caib and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

o Receivables and other financial assets

Trade receivable are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An
estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are
written off as incurred.

Loans and receivables which are not categorised under any of the above are classified as “other
receivables/other assets™.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.12  Financial instruments (continued)

5.12.2 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

e  Financial assets at FVTPL

Classification of investments as financial assets at FVTPL depends on how management monitor the
performance of these investments. Investments at FVTPL are either "held for trading” or "designated” as
such on inital recognition.

The Group classifies investments as trading if they are acquired principally for the purpose of selling or are a
part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit taking. When they are not classified as held for trading
but have readily available reliable fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of statement of
profit or loss in the management accounts, they are as designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss except for
financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any.
The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or
using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

e AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not
qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.

Financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any.
Impairment charges are recognised in consolidated statement of income. All other AFS financial assets are
measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and reported within
the fair value reserve within equity, except for impairment losses, and foreign exchange differences on
monetary assets, which are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. When the asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from the equity reserve to consolidated statement of profit or loss and presented as a
reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive income.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset available
for sale or a group of financial assets available for sale is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified
as financial assets available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the equity investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for financial assets that
are debt securities which are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss only if the reversal can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

5.12.3 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, bonds issued and accounts payable and other liabilites;
the subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification.

The Group classifies all its financial liabilities as “financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or
loss {(FVTPL).



Al Mal Investment Company — KPSC and Subsidiaries 26
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.12  Financial instruments (continued)

5.12.3 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities (continued)

o  Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss (FVIPL)
These are stated at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. The Group categorises financial
liabilities other than at FVTPL into the following categories:

e Borrowings

All borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains
and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

o Bonds issued

Bonds are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at their principal amount, net of directly
related costs of issuing the bonds to the extent that such costs have not been amortised. These costs are
amortised through the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the life of the bonds using the effective
interest rate method.

o Adounts payables and other financial liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed
by the supplier or not, and classified as trade payables. Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL which are
not categorised under any of the above are classified as “accounts payable and other liabilities”

All interest-related charges are included within finance costs or interest income.

5.12.4 Amortised cost of financial instruments

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes
into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate.

5125 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

5.12.6 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined
by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for
short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to
the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or
other valuation models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are
provided in Note 28.
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5,13  Equity, reserves and dividend payments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated
with the 1ssuing of shares are deducted from share premium.

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance
with the requirements of the commercial companies’ law and the Parent Company’s articles of association.

Other components of equity include the following:

» foreign currency translation reserve - comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD

« Cumulative changes in fair value reserve — comprises gains and losses relating to available for sale
financial assets :

Accumulated losses include all current and prior period losses. All transactions with owners of the parent are
recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have
been approved in a general meeting,

5.14  Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group
and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this
method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity.

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “gain on sale of
treasury shares reserve”), which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to
the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to
the voluntary reserve and statutory reserve. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock
dividend shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per
share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

5.15  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are
discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
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5.16  Foreign currency translation

5.16.1 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in currency Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the
functional currency of the Parent Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entty are measured using that functional currency.

5.16.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items
denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary
items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates
at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. Translation difference on non-monetary asset
classificd as, “fair value through profit or loss” is reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the
consalidated statement of profit or loss and “available for sale” are reported as part of the cumulative change
in fair value reserve within other comprehensive income.

5.16.3 Foreign operations

In the Group's financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional
currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the
entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been
translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited
to other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

5.17  End of service indemnity

The parent and its local subsidiaries provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these
benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of 2 minimum
service period in accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these
benefits are accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount
payable to each employee as a result of termination on the reporting date.

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public Institution for
Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these
contributions, which are expensed when due.

5.18 Taxation

6.18.1 National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24
of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group. As per law, allowable deductions include, share of profits of
listed associates and cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.18  Taxation (continued)

5.18.2 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the modified
calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income from Kuwaiti
sharcholding associates and subsidiaries, and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for
the year when determining the contribution.

5.18.3 Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is caleulated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of
Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

For the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company has no liability towards NLST, KFAS
and Zakat due to tax losses incurred. Under the NLST and Zakat regulations no carry forward of losses to
the future years nor any carry back to prior years is permitted.

5.18.4 Fiduciary asscts
Assets held in a trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, they are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.

6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

6.1.  Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

6.1.1.  Classification of financial instruments
Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at
acquisition. Such judgement determines whether it is subsequently measured at cost, amortised cost or at fair
value and if the changes in fair value of instruments are reported in the statement of profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

The Group classifies financial assets as held for trading if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short
term profit making,

Classification of financial assets as fair value through profit or loss depends on how management monitors
the performance of these financial assets. When they are not classified as held for trading but have readily
available fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of profit or loss in the management
accounts, they are classified as fair value through statement of profit or loss.

Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nature of the asset. If the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or determinable
payments the financial asset is classified as loans and receivables.

All other financial assets are classified as available for sale.
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6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)

6.1.  Significant management judgments (continued)

6.1.2 Classification of real estate

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, or investment
property. Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties are subsequently measured at
cost or net realisable value whichever is lower or fair value.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

6.1.3 Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to dircct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities
and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.

6.2 Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially
different.

6.2.1 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on
existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

6.2.2 Impairment of available for sale equity investments

The Group treats available for sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment. In 2016 the Group
recognised an impairment loss on available for sale investments (see note 17).

6.2.3 Impairment of loans and receivables

The group’s management reviews periodically items classified as loans and receivables to assess whether a
provision for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. In particular,
considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of amount and tming of future cash
flows when determining the level of provisions required. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions
about several factors involving varying degrees of judgement and uncertainty. In 2016 the Group recognised
impairment losses on loans and receivables (see notes 16).

6.2.4 Fair value of financial instruments

Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active
market quotes are not available. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on
market inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where
such data is not observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments
may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date
(sec note 28).
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6

(continued)
6.2 Estimation uncertainty (continued)
6.2.5 Revaluation of investment properties

Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determtne
fair values and the valuers have used valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values. These estimated fair
values of investment properties may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length

transaction at the reporting date.

7 Subsidiary companies

7.1 Details of the Group’s material consolidated subsidiaries which are directly owned by the Parent
Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Country of
registration
& Place of
Name of the subsidiary business
Tarasul Telecom Co. K.S5.C (Closed) Kuwait
Diyar Al-Kuwait Real Estate Company — Kuwait
KSC (Closed)
Al Mal International for Project Kuwait
Management Co.- WLL
Al Mal Qatari Holding Company - KSC Kuwait
(Closed}
Safe Hands Holding Co. — BSC (Closed) Bahrain
Saudi Al Mal Co. - WLL (agdgm ol 8
Quick Facilities Management - LLC lélz:::aac:grab

Proportion of
ownership interest held

by the Group Nature of business
2016 2015
96.69% 96.69%  Communication services
60.25% 60.25%  Real eslate development
80.00% 80.00% Real estale project
management
97.5%" 97.5%" Real estate project
management
60.72% 60.72% Health care
100% 100% Investment activities
100% 100% Facilities management

services

* The remaining 2.5% of the above subsidiary is held by Parent Company through letter of assignments.
Certain subsidiaries shares are held through letter of assignments in favour of the Parent Company.

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The Group includes two subsidiaries, with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

Proportion of

ownership interests {Loss)/profit allocated
Name and voting rights held to NCI Accumulated NCI
by the NCI
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
KD KD KD KD
Diyar Al-Kuwail Real Estate 39.75% 39.75% (1,363) 60,438 133,122 (2,572,0685)
Company KSCC (DKRE}
First Al-Mal Real Estate Company 9.32% 9.32% (2,736) 66,283 747,448 3,837,332
KSCC (FMRE) [subsidiary of Al Mal
Qatari Holding Company KSCC])
Individually immaterial subsidiaries (7,588) {6,814) 138,275 139,117
with nen-controlling interests
{11,687) 119,907 1,018,845 1,404,384
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7 Subsidiary companies (continued)

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information for the above subsidiaries, before intragroup eliminations, is set out below:

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

Non-current asseis
Current assets

DKRE FMRE
KD KD
13,478,312 -
2,034,531 28,312,345

DKRE FMRE
KD KD
14,003,851 -

352,096 34,603,266

Total assets

15,512,843 28,312,345

14,355,947 34,603,266

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

DKRE FMRE DKRE FMRE
KD KD KD KD
Non-current liabilities 205,446 - 187,557 -
Current liabilities 4,113,019 26,881,820 10,068,680 6,792
Total liabilities 4,318,465 26,881,820 10,256,237 6,792
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent
Company 6,484,911 1,297,161 2,430,686 31,373,326
Non-controlling interest 4,374,211 133,264 1,669,024 3,223,148
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
DKRE FMRE DKRE FMRE
KD KD KD KD
{Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of
the Parent Company (46,077) {(8,937) 47,540 135,874
{Loss)/profit for the year attributable to NCI (1,363) (2,736) 60,438 66,283
(Loss)/profit for the year (47,440) (11,673) 107,978 202,157
Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to the
shareholders of the Parent Company 37,520 - 7,604 -
Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 24,753 - 1,495 -
Total other comprehensive income for the year 62,273 - 9,099 -
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the
shareholders of the Parent Company (8,557) (8,937) 55,144 135,874
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 23,390 {2,736) 61,933 66,283
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,833 {11,673} 117,077 202,157
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
DKRE FMRE DKRE FMRE
KD KD KD KD
Net cash flow from operating activities 78,785 945 956,061  (1,372,621)
Net cash flow from investing activities 477,933 - 46,918 -
Net cash outflow from financing activities {600,000) - (1,101,133) -
Net cash outflow {43,282) 945 (98,154) (1,372,621)
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7.3. Acquisition of Non-Controlling interest of a sub-subsidiary

During the 4% quarter of the previous year, the Group acquired 10% of the share capital held by non-
controlling interests (also a related party) with respect of First Al-Mal Real Estate Company for a
consideration of KI3,570,742 resulting in a gain of KID912,111 which has been recognized in equity. The
consideration was settled by crediting the due from related party by an amount of KID3,522,992 and the
difference of I{ID47,750 was settled in cash.

8 Net income from communication services
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Subscription, activation and installation income 243,963 310,272
Hardware and software sales and project/maintenance income 34,873 115,404
278,836 425676
Direct operating costs {222,246} {335,496)
56,590 90,180
9 Management fees and other income
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Management and consultancy fees 223,228 981,687
Rent income 524,465 546,802
Gain on settlement of accounts payable* - 399,171
Other income 3,605 62,876
751,298 1,990,546

* During the previous year, one of the Group’s subsidiaries has settled certain accounts payable and the
creditor has waived an amount of KID399,171 which has been recognised under other income in previous
year’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

10 Gain on reversal of finance costs due to debt to equity swap

During the 2™ quarter of the previous year, upon completion of the debt to equity swap, the Group reversed
the total finance cost accrued on the debt which was swapped into equity (refer note 24} as such finance costs
ware no longer due.

11 Finance costs
Finance costs relate mainly to borrowings and bonds issued. All these financial liabilities are stated at
amortised cost.
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12 Net loss or gain on financial assets
Net loss or gain on financial assets, analysed by category, is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Receivables
- bank balances and shorl term deposits 27,586 25,364
- Investment in Sukuk - (56,741)
- Impairment of receivables and other assets (46,506) -
Assets at fair value through profit or loss:
- designated on initial recognition (497,0186) 366,703
Available for sale investments:
- recognised directly in other comprehensive income (including minority share) {379,580) 960,046
- recycled from other comprehensive income to consolidated statement of
profit or loss
«  Onimpairment {239,816) (557.,002)
« On disposal 27,680 37,193
- recognised directly in consolidated statement of profil or loss 566,671 212,368
(540,981) 987,931
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Net (loss)/profit recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss {161,401} 27,885
Net (loss)/profit recognised in other comprehensive income {379,580) 960,046
(540,981) 987,931

13 Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit for the year attributable
to the owners of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD) (18,286,765) 6,256,744
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 669,543,510 614,199,605
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (Fils) {27.31) 10.19
14 Cash and cash equivalents
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 2,326,415 2,055,681
Short term deposits 1,711,747 3,244,739
Cash balances with portfolio managers 201,889 1,293
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statement of cash flow 4,240,051 5,301,713

(=Y

Short term deposits carry an average effective interest rate of 1.55% (2015: 0.75%).
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15 Investments at fair value through profit or loss

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD

Designated on initial recognition:
Local quoted shares 790,313 950,575
Mutual funds 157,761 151,843
Unguoted shares 518,334 892,087

1,466,408 1,994,505

During the year, the Group sold certain local quoted shares for a total consideration of KD239,756 realising
a net gain of KD24,006 being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under “realised gain
on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss”.

16 Accounts receivable and other assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Advance payment to purchase investments 1,450,518 1,525,495
Refundable development expenses (16.1) 17,807,038 17,821,035
Due from related parties 276,875 270,204
Trade receivables 238,671 311,483
Accrued income & Dividends receivable 39,702 60,152
Other assets (16.3) 1,503,792 1,634,744
21,316,396 21,623,113
Provision for refundable development expenses (16.2) {15,968,001) (3,199,675)
5,348,395 18,423,438

161 Refundable development expenses represent development cost incurred to develop an economic city
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia jointly with the Saudi authorities. The Parent Company was the main
developer for this project.

During the 3 quarter of the previous year, Knowledge Economic City (KEC) - Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia (the relevant Saudi authority), has announced through different media channels the
termination of Al-Mal Investment’s Contract (Developer of Prince Faisal Abdul Aziz Bin Musaed
economic city — located in Hael) and assigning the development to Governmental parties. The
management of the Parent Company has contacted KEC to inquire about this action, since based on
the development contract, all contractual and formal procedures must be completed to rectify any
breach {if any), before terminating the development contract.

Further, during the year, the Group has filed a legal case against Knowledge Economic City to
recover the refundable development expenses. The legal case was filed under the administrative court
and the first hearing was held on 27 September 2016 in which the KEC representative requested a
copy of the agreement and a time limit to respond, therefore, the hearing was postponed to 29
November 2016. On 29 November 2016, The Parent Company presented to the court all agreements
and documents related to the work performed on the project and KEC representative requested
additional time limit to respond, accordingly, the hearing was postponed to 24 January 2017. On 24
January 2017, KEC representative submitted his reply note to the court, and the court gave the Parent
Company a time limit to review the reply note and scheduled the next hearing to be held on 21
February 2017. On 21 February 2017, the Parent Company submitted a reply memo in which they
emphasized that the key matter is the wrongfully terminaton of the development agreement, the
KEC representative requested a time limit to respond to the memo; hence, the hearing was postponed
to 7 March 2017.

Upon consultation with the legal consultants and review of the development contract which stipulates
that the total expenses incurred is re-imbursable, the Parent Company’s management is confident that
the Parent Company has the right to recover the above refundable development expenses in full.
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16 Accounts receivable and other assets (continued)

162 During the 1 and 2™ quarter of the current year, a provision of KID4,792,044 and KID7,976,282
respectively (IKD1,596,804 during the 3% quarter of 2015 and KD1,602,871 during the 4 quarter of
2015} was recognised against refundable development expenses in accordance with Central Bank of
Kuwait requirements. The management has taken into consideration certain direct dues related to the
project (included under accounts payable & other liabilities as of the reporting date), in arriving at the
provision for refundable development expenses which amounted to KD 15,968,001 as at 31
December 2016. The outcome of the litigation noted in 16.1 is dependent on the future outcome of
continuing legal and regulatory processes and consequently any provisions made to date are subject to
inherent uncertainty.

163 Other assets includes an amount of KD1,000,000 (31 December 2015: KD1,400,000) which
represents payments made to investees Companies for potendal investments and the investees have
informed that these projects will not be executed. Accordingly, the management expects that these
amounts will be returned in full within a short period. These balances have been confirmed by the
investees companies.

17  Available for sale investments

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD

Investments in unquoted shares 2,103,393 2,641,318

- Local unquoted 1,918,610 2,327,466

- Foreign unquoted 184,783 313,852

Investmenis in privale equity funds 272,738 444 549

- Foreign 272,738 444 549

Investments in direct equity funds 594,544 714,152

| - Local 594,544 714,152 |
Investments in portfolios managed by others 1,312,567 2,161,221

| - Local unquoted 366,867 423,166 |

! - Foreign unquoted 629,307 869,968 |
- Foreign quoted 316,393 119,791
‘ - Foreign quoted Real Estate investment Trusts (REIT) - 748,296
4,283,242 5,861,240

17.1 Available for sale investments include investments of KID616,436 (31 December 2015: KID336,652),
carried at cost less impairment, if any, due to the unpredictable nature of future cash flows and the
unavailability of financial information to arrive at a reliable measure of fair value.

17.2  Information for investments in private equity funds and direct equity funds is limited to periodic

financial reports provided by the investment managers. These investments are carried at net asset
values reported by the investment managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the net asset
values reported by the investment managers represent the best estimate of fair values available for
these investments.
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17  Available for sale investments (continued)

17.3 During the year, the Group disposed the Direct equity funds, Private equity funds, Foreign quoted
Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT) and foreign unquoted shares with carrying values of
KD113,686, KD93,981, KID748,206 and KD102,639 respectively for a consideration of KID1,296,477
realising in a net gain of KD237,875 being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
under “gain on disposal of available for sale investments”.

17.4 During the year, the Group recognised an impairment loss of KID239,816 for certain local unquoted
investments and other foreign quoted and unquoted investments (2015: KDD557,002), based on
estimates made by management and the net asset values reported by investment managers.

18 Investment in Sukuk

During the previous year, the Group disposed the sukuk investment (Neo Soleil) for a consideration of
KD794,478 which resulted in a loss of KID56,741 recognised in previous year’s consolidated statement profit
or loss under “loss on disposal of investment in sukuk”. Part of the consideration was settled in cash
(KD46,182) and the remaining balance of KD748,296 was settled by transferring foreign quoted investments.

19 Investment in associates

2016 2015
KD KD

The movement in associates during the year is as follows:

Balance at 1 January 9,287,632 12,452,235
Share of resulis (3,441,879) (1.421,522)
Groups share of associates change in other comprehensive income (36,027) (492,512)
Dividend received (166,964) (1,302,719)
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations {312,415) 52,150
Balance at 31 December 5,330,347 9,287,632

Details of the Group’s material associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Country of
registration and
Principal place of

business Nature of business Percentage ownership
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
Advance Zone General Trading WLL Kuwait/Iraq General trading 40% 40%
Falcon Aviation Group Limited British Virgin Air cargo 20% 20%
Islands

19.1  All of the above named associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated
financial statements.

19.2 The Group has recorded its share in Advance Zone General Trading based on 31 December 2016
financial statements and the share of results of Falcon Aviation Group Limited has been recorded
based on 30 September 2016 accounts.
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19 Investment in associates (continued)

19.3 Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material associates are set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents the amounts presented in the financial
statemnents of the associates (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and the associate:

19.4.1 Advance Zone General Trading WLL

31 Dec. 31 Dec
2018 2015
KD KD
Non-current assets 3,778,329 12,736,046
Current assets 4,591,284 4,553,926
Current liabilities {319,771) {315,968)
Equity 8,049,842 16,974,004
Loss for the year® (8,834,092) (818,932)
Other comprehensive income for the year {90,068} 481,536
Total comprehensive income for the year (8,924,160} (337,396)

A reconciliation of the above surmmarised financial information to the carrying amount of the investment in Advance
Zone General Trading WLL is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the Group 8,048,842 16,974,004
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in the associate 40% 40%
Carrying value of the investment 3,219,937 6,789,601

* Advance Zone General Trading WLL is an unquoted investment and it mainly holds 50% of an investment
in 2 company who is a telecom & technology provider, incorporated in British Virgin Islands and operating in
Iraq. The loss for the year in the associate has mainly arisen due to a decline in value of this underlying
investment recognised by the associate, based on an external valuation carried out by the associate. The
external valuator has used the discounted cash flow method to arrive at the fair value of the underlying
nvestment.

19.4.2 Falcon Aviation Group Limited

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Non-current assels 931,744 50,373
Current assels - 1,402,460
Non-current liabilities {7.865) -
Current liabilities {1,571,922) (1,094,619)
Equity (648,043) 358,214
Less: Non-controlling interest - .
Equity atiributable to the shareholders of the Group (648,043) 358,214
Non-interest bearing shareholders' loans 7,718,693 7,659,936

Adjusted net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the
Group 7,070,650 8,018,150
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19 Investment in associates (continued)

19.4.2 Falcon Aviation Group Limited (continued)

During the year, the Group received dividends of KID138,794 (2015: KID1,242,670) from Falcon which have

been reduced from the carrying value of the investment.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Revenue 1,709,113 1,455,319
Profit for the year {305,650) (6,311,192)
Other comprehensive income for the year - (3,411,573)
Total comprehensive income for the year {305,650) (9,722,765)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the investment in Falcon
Aviation Group Limited is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the Group 7,070,650 8,018,150
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate 20% 20%
Carrying value of the investment 1,414,130 1,603,630

Falcon Aviation Group limited, is an unquoted investment.

19.5  Apggrepate informaton of associates that are not individually material to the Group:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
The Group’s share of profit for the year 152,888 189,054
The Group's share of other comprehensive income for the year - -
The Group's share of total comprehensive income for the year 152,888 189,064
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interest in these
associates as of the reporting date 696,280 894 401
20 Investment properties
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
20186 2015
KD KD
Investment properties 8,667,364 9,091,796
Land and properties under development 3,827,030 3,377,253
' 12,494,394 12,469,049
The movement for investment propertes is as follows:
2016 2015
KD KD
Balance as of 1 January 12,469,049 11,751,167
Additions during the year 4,090,931 412,868
Disposals during the year {28,869) {25,202)
Changes in fair value {68,184) 366,239
Foreign currency translation adjustment arising on consolidation (968,533} (36,023)

12,484,394

12,469,049
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20 Investment properties (continued)

20.1 Investment properties with a carrying value of KID7,477,030 (2015 KD7,124,189) of a local
subsidiary are pledged against Islamic debt instruments of the same subsidiary.

b
[=
38

Investment properties include a foreign investment property with a carrying value of KID1,033,081
(2015: KID1,690,713) purchased previously by a foreign subsidiary and held based on a registered
letter of assignment provided by the original owners of the property.

20.3 The details of fair valuation of investment propertics are disclosed in note 28.4.

20.4 The above properties are located in GCC and other Middle Eastern countries.

21 Accounts payables and other liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Trade payable and payable to contractors * 5,322,845 5,345,294
Due to related parties (Note 27) 4,882,523 4,720,474
Accrued expenses 97,614 127,340
Accrued finance costs 68,992 44 447
Other credit balances 62,560 26,643
10,434,534 10,264,198

* Trade payables and due to contractors include due to trade creditors and others which are related to the
project which is referred to in note 16.1 and the management doesn’t expect such liabilities to be called
upon until the Group is able to recover its dues from the project.

22 Borrowings

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Istamic debt instruments
- Murabaha payables 3,606,871 4,039,496
3,606,871 4,039,496
22.1 The above murabaha payable is to be settled in annual instalments of KID600,000 each (representing
the principle and the related profit) with a bullet payment of the remaining balance on 31 October
2019, and the first instalment was paid during the current year.
22.2 Investment properties of a local subsidiary are pledged against Islamic debt instruments of these
murabaha payables (note 20).
22.3 The effective cost rate of the murabaha payables is 5.25% (2015: 5%).
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24

Bonds

In 2014 the management of the Parent Company commenced negotations with its bondholders to
restructure its dues and during the 3% quarter of 2014, the management of the Parent Company has
submitted a proposal to the bondholders to settle 50% of the amounts due in cash and consequently
the bondholders to agree to waive 20% of their dues (including interest) and to swap their remaining
30% of the outstanding bonds into an equity stake in the Parent Company. The planned debt to
equity swap will result in bonds with a value of KID3,596,400 (30%) being converted into 35,964,000
new shares in the Parent Company’s share capital at par value of 100fils per share.

Consequent to the above proposal, during the 1% quarter of 2015, the Group reached an agreement
with a bondholder (through a foreign subsidiary) to whom an amount of KID1,350,000 was due as of
31 December 2013 (2014: reached an agreement with bondholders to whom amounts totalling to
KD?9,738,000 were due as of 31 December 2013} to settle 50% of the amounts due in cash and
consequently the bondholder has agreed to waive 20% of the dues and to swap the remaining 30% of
the outstanding bonds into an equity stake in the Parent Company.

Consequent to these agreements reached, the Group through its foreign subsidiary settled in cash
50% of the above mentioned dues amounting to KID675,000 during the 1% quarter of 2015
(KD4,869,000 during 2014) and the gain which resulted from the waiver of the principle and interest
due amounting to KID270,000 was recognised as income during the 1# quarter of 2015 (KD2,519,032
was recognised as income in 2014). Accordingly during the 27 quarter of the year 2015, upon
completion of the debt to equity swap, the Parent Company issued 33,264,000 new shares to these
bondholders in settlement of the remaining balance due to them which amounted to KID3,326,400 as
at 31 December 2014 and 30 September 2015 (refer note 24).

Consequent to the above the foreign subsidiary of the Group has re-purchased approximately 92.5%
of the bonds issued as of 31 December 2013 and the Parent Company’s bonds issued balance has
decreased to KID900,000 at 31 December 2016.

On 30 November 2014, the bondholders (referred to in 23.1 above} agreed to extend the due date of
the bonds issued to 18 November 2016 and to reduce the interest on fixed interest bearing bonds to
1% fixed interest rate and floating bonds to bear floating interest rate at maximum 1% per annum
(previously fixed interest bearing bonds carry interest rate at 8.875% per annum and the floating
interest bearing bonds carry interest rate at 5.5% per annum over the Central Bank of Kuwait
discount rate). Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The bondholders owning the remaining
bonds with a carrying value of KIDD900,000 out of the Bonds issued balance as of 31 December 2013
(representing 7.5% of the bondholders) has filed a legal case against the Parent Company and further
one of the old bondholders (who previously owned bonds with a carrying value of KID900,000 out of
the bonds issued balance as of 31 December 2013, representing 7.5% of the bondholders as of that
date, and who has now become a shareholder due to the debt to equity swap) has also filed a legal
case against the Parent Company. However the Group’s management is confident that the legal cases
have no basis and is confident that the case will be decided in favour of the Parent Company.

Share capital
31 Dec 2016 31 December 2015

Authorised Paid-up in Authorised Paid-up in Cast
Cash

Shares of 100 Fils each 669,543,510 669,543,510 669,543,510 669,543,510
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24 Share capital (continued)

24.1 Consequent to the debt to equity swap carried out during the year 2014/2015, during the 2 quarter of
the year 2015, the Parent Company issued 141,262,260 new shares at par value of 100 fils each
amounting to KID14,126,226 to lenders and certain bondholders.

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards an amount of KID9,323,309
representing the difference between fair value of the equity issued (KD4,802,917) and carrying value of
the debt settled to lenders and bondholders (KKD14,126,226) was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the 2« quarter of 2015. However, in compliance with the local laws,
the new shares were issued at par value, and the difference between the par value and the fair value of
the new equity issued amounting to KID9,323,309 has been recorded in accumulated losses in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity during the same period. Consequently, this transaction had
no effect on the net equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company as of 31 December 2015.

25 Reserves and non-controlling interests

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Foreign currency translation reserve 25.3 (2,107,989) (1,087,634)
Cumulalive changes in fair value 254 7,698 412,031
Non-controlling interests 25.5 1,018,845 1,404,384

251  Statutory reserve

Tn accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s articles of association, 10% of the profit
attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat provision, NLST
provision and directors’ remuneration is to be transferred to statutory reserve. No transfer is required in a
year when losses are made or where cumulative losses exist. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue
such annual transfer when the reserve equals or exceeds 50% of the paid-up share capital.

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of
5% of paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of
a dividend of that amount.

25.2  Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Parent Company’s articles of associaton, 10% of the profit attributable to
shareholders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat provision, NLST provision and
directors’ remuneration is to be transferred to voluntary reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to
discontinue such transfers by a resolution of the Parent Company’s board of directors. There are no
restrictions on distribution of voluntary reserve. No transfer is required in a year when losses are made or
when cumulative losses exist.

253  Foreign currency translation reserve

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Balance at 1 January (1,087,634) (491,804)
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operalions {984,328} (103,318)
Groups share of associates foreign currency translation reserve {36,027) (492,512)
Balance at 31 December {2,107,98%) {1,087,634)
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25 Reserves and non-controlling interests (continued)

25.4  Cumulative changes in fair value

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 412,031 {521,773)
Net changes in fair value arising during the year (584,230} 413,995
Transferred to consolidated stalement of profit or loss on disposal (27,680) {37,193)
Transferred 1o consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment 207,577 557,002
Balance at 31 December 7,698 412,031
25.5  Non-controlling interests
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 1,404,384 5,782,352
Purchase of Non-controlling interests in a subsidiary (note 7.3} . {4,482,853)
{Loss)/profit for the year (11,687) 119,907
Net changes in fair value of available for sale investments {7,486) 26,242
Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment 32,239 -
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations {398,605) (41,264)
Balance at 31 December 1,018,845 1,404,384

26 Segmental information

The Group activities are concentrated in three main segments: real estate, investment and finance. The
segments’ results are reported to the higher management in the Group. In addition, the segments results,
assets and liabilities are reported based on the geographic locations which the Group operates in.

26.1  The following is the segments information, which conforms with the internal reporting presented to

management:
31 Dec. 2016
Real estate [nvestments Financing Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD KD

Total income 459,013 (3,121,317) 27,585 {102,120) {2,736,839)
Expenses and other charges {659,838} (14,636,452) {8,468) {256,855) (15,561,613)
(Loss)/profit for the year {200,825) (17,757,769) 19,117 {358,975) (18,298,452)
Assels 14,498,960 18,372,122 - 535,064 33,406,146
Liabilities 4,288,501 5,262,299 968,992 4,919,208 15,435,001
Net assets 10,210,459 13,109,823 (968,992) (4,384,145} 17,967,145
Interest income 34 27,552 - - 27,586
Finance costs {199,021) - (8,468) - {207,488)
Impairment in value of available

for sale investments - {239,816} - - {239,816)
Impairment of goodwill - - - (90,332) {90,332)
Impairment of receivables and

other assets - {46,506} - - {46,506)
Provision for refundable

development expenses - {12,768,326) - - {12,768,326)
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26 Segmental information (continued)
. 3‘_1_ Dec. 2015 -l
Real estate Investments Financing Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD KD

Total income 924,761 119,698 10,702,448 665,251 12,412,158
Expenses and other charges (750,014) (4,892,939) (131,805) (260,749) {6,035,507)
Profit/{Loss) for the year 174,747 (4,773,241) 10,670,643 404,502 6,376,651
Assets 12,857,859 40,237 424 - 571,194 53,666,477
Liabilities 4,670,879 6,690,928 044 447 3,296,016 15,602,340
Net assets 8,186,980 33,546,426 (944,447) (2,724,822) 38,064,137
Interest income 11,720 - 13,644 - 25,364
Finance costs {254,986) - (131,805) - {386,791)
Impairment in value of available

for sale investments - (557,002) - - {557,002)
Provision for refundable

development expenses - (3,199,675) - - (3,199,875)
26.2  The geographical analysis is as follows:

Domestic International Total
KD KD KD

31 December 2016
Total income {3,464,735) 727,896 (2,736,839)
Profit for the year {5,851,659) {12,446,793) {18,298,452)
Total assets 8,659,341 24,746,805 33,406,146
Total liabilities 9,114,950 6,324,051 15,439,001
Net assets (455,609) 18,422,754 17,967,145
31 December 2015
Total income 13,057,242 {645,084) 12,412,158
Loss for the year 2,236,636 3,798,871 6,035,507
Total assets 25,473,170 28,193,307 53,666,477
Total liabilities 3,978,059 11,624,281 15,602,340
Net assels 21,495,111 16,569,026 38,064,137
27 Related party transactions

Related parties represent associates, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and other related
parties such as major shareholders and companies in which directors and key management personnel of the
Group are principal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control.

Significant transactions and balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are

as follows:

Balances in the consclidated statement of financiai position:

Due from related parties (see note 16)
Due to related parties (see note 21)*

Due to related parties included in trade payables and payable to contractors (note 21)

Purchase of Non controlling interest of a subsidiary (see note 7.3)

31 Dec.
2016
KD

276,675
4,882,523
1,443,299

31 Dec.
2015
KD

270,204
4,720,474
1,451,075

3,670,742
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27 Related party transactions (continued)

* Due to related parties includes interest free advances totalling KID4,282,625 (31 December 2015:
KD4,269,875) from an associate (KID1,532,625) and another related party (KID2,750,000) with no specific

repayment terms, and the management does not anticipate repayment during the next year.

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Transactions included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Management fees and other income 102,088 822,565
Key management compensation:
Short term benefits 280,115 250,419
Employees end of service indemnity 31,874 28,125

Pricing policies and the terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.

Transactions with related parties are subject to approval of the shareholders at the general assembly meeting,

28 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement

28.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position may also be categorized as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Receivables({at amortised cost)
» Cash and cash equivalents 4,240,051 5,301,713
* Accounts receivable and other assets {note 16) 5,348,395 18,423,438
9,588,446 23,725,151
Held to maturity investments {at amortised cost):
* Investment in bonds 100,000 -
100,000 -
Assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 15)
« Investments at fair value through profit or loss:
- Designated on initial recognition 1,466,408 1,994,505
1,466,408 1,994,505
Available for sale investments: {note 17)
¢ At fair value 3,666,806 5,624,588
¢ At cost/cost less impairment 616,436 336,652
4,283,242 5,861,240
Total financial assets 15,438,096 31.680,896
Other financial liabilities: (amortised cost)
s Accounts payable and olher liabilities {note 21) 10,434,534 10,264,198
¢  Borrowings 3,606,871 4,039,496
« Bonds 900,000 900,000

Total financial liabilities 14,941,405 15,203,694
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28 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

28.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Investments (excluding certain
available for sale investments which are carried at cost/cost less impairment for reasons specified in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements) are carried at fair value and measurement details are disclosed in
note 28.3 to the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the Group’s management, the carrying
amounts of all other financial assets and liabilities which are at amortised costs are considered a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The Group also measures non-financial assets such as investment
properties at fair value at each annual reporting date (refer 28.4)

28.3 Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are grouped
into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability of
significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
mputs).

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant
input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the statement of consolidated
financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance
Note KD KD KD KD
31 December 2016
Assets at fair value
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss
- Quoted shares a 790,313 - - 790,313
- Mutual funds b - 157,761 - 157,761
- Unquoted shares c - - 518,334 518,334
Available for sale investments:
- Investment in unquoted shares
o Local c - - 1,918,610 1,918,610
o Faoreign c - - 171,677 171,677
- Private equity funds d . - 272,738 272,738
- Direct equity funds d - - 224,585 224,585
- Portfolios managed by others
o Foreign quoted a 316,383 - - 316,393
o Local unguoted e - - 133,496 133,496
o Foreign unguoted e - - 629,307 629,307

Tolal assels 1,106,706 157,761 3,868,747 5,133,214
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28 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

28.3 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance
Note KD KD KD KD
31 December 2015
Assets at fair value
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss
- Quoted shares a 950,575 - - 950,575
- Mutual funds b - 151,843 - 151,843
- Unquoted shares c - - 892,087 892,087
Available for sale investments:
- Invesiment in unquoted shares
o Local c - - 2,327,465 2,327,465
o Foreign ¢ - - 248,038 248,038
- Private equity funds d - - 444 550 444 550
- Direct equity funds d - - 714,152 714,152
- Portfolios managed by others
o Foreign quoted Real Estate
Investment Trust (REIT) a 748,296 - - 748,296
o Foreign quoted a 119,791 - - 119,791
o Local unquoted e - - 152,328 152,328
o Foreign unquoted e - - 869,968 869,968
Tolal assets 1,818,662 151,843 5,648,588 7,619,093

There have been no significant transfers between levels T and 2 during the reporting period.

Measurement at fair value

The Group’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including
Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where
required. Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall
objecuve of maximising the use of market-based informaton.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value, which are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting period, are as follows:

Financial instruments in level 3

a) Quoted shares/quoted REIT
All quoted equity securities are publicly traded in stock exchanges. Fair values have been determined by
reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

b) Mutual funds
The underlying investments of these funds comprise of quoted securities and the fair value of the investment
as of the reporting date is determined based on net asset values reported by the fund manager.

c) Unquoted shares

These represent holdings in local and foreign unlisted securities which are measured at fair value. Fair value is
estimated based on the net asset value reported in the latest available financial information, discounted cash
flow model or other valuaton technique which includes some assumptons that are not supportable by
observable market prices or rates.
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28.3 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

d) Private and direct equity funds

The underlying investments in these private and direct equity funds mainly represent local and foreign quoted
and unquoted securities. Information for these investments is limited to periodic financial reports provided
by the investment managers. These investments are carried at net asset values reported by the investment
managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the net asset values reported by the investment managers
represent the best estmate of fair values available for these investments.

e) Portfolios managed by others
The underlying investments in managed portfolios represent quoted and unquoted securities. They are
valued based on latest fund manager’s reports.

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs
that are not based on observable market date. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled
from beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD

As at 1 January 5,648,588 4,644,283
Change in fair value (607,790) 1,443,545
Net disposal/redemption {160,693) (733,956)
Transferred to level 1 (due to listing) {314,483) -
Additions during the year - 955,000
Net maovement between cost and level 3 (457,059) (103,282)
Impairment of level 3 investments {239,816) (657,002)
As at 31 December 3,868,747 5,648,588
Total amount included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for unrealised

gain on level 3 instruments under investments at fair value through profit or loss {373,753) 392,087

The following table provides information about the sensitivity of the fair values measurement to changes in
the most significant unobservable inputs:

Financial asset  Valuation Range
technique Significant {weighted Sensitivity of the fair value
unobservable input average) measurement to the input
Unquoted shares NAV Higher the Net assel value,
multiples Net asset value reported N/A higher the fair value
Discount for lack of
marketability and Higher the discount rate, lower
Company specific nisks 20% - BO%: the value
Private equity NAV reported Fair market value/carrying
and direct by investment value of the underlying Higher the FMV/CV of the
equity funds manager assefs N/A assets, higher the value
Other managed NAV reported  Fair market value/carrying
portfolios by investment value of the underlying Higher the FMV/CV of the
manager assels N/A assels, higher the value

The impact on profit or loss and other comprehensive income would be immaterial if the relevant risk
variable used to fair value the level 3 investments were changed by 5%.
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28.3 Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Discount for lack of marketability & company specific risks represents the amounts that the Group has
determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

In case of AFS assets, the impairment charge in the profit or loss would depend on whether the decline is
significant or prolonged. An increase in the fair value would only impact equity (through OCI) and, would
not have an cffect on profit or loss.

28.4 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on
a recurring basis at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD «D KD

31 December 2016

Investmenl propery

- Buildings in Kuwait - - 5,450,000 5,450,000
- Lands and buildings under - 3,827,030 3,827,030

development in Kuwait -

- Building in UAE - 436,474 - 436,474
- Building in Bahrain - 1,747,809 - 1,747,809
- Land in Egypt - - 1,033,081 1,033,081

- 2,184,283 10,310,111 12,494,394

31 December 2015
Investment property

- Buildings in Kuwait - - 5,436,000 5,436,000
- Lands and buildings under - 3,377,253 3,377,253

development in Kuwait -
- Building in UAE - 276,894 - 276,894
- Building in Bahrain - 1,688,189 - 1,688,189
- Land in Egypt - - 1,690,713 1,690,713
- 1,965,083 10,503,966 12,469,049

The fair values of all investment propertes have been determined based on valuations obtained from two
independent valuers for each investment property, who are specialised in valuing these types of investment
properties. The significant inputs and assumptions are developed in close consultation with management. As
of 31 December 2016 and 2015, for the valuation purpose, the Group has selected the lower value of the two
valuatons obtained for each investment property.

Buildings in Kuwait (including lands and buildings under development in Kuwait)

The buildings in Kuwait represent buildings catergorised as “Investment Buildings”. The lands and buildings
under development in Kuwait represent lands catergorised as “Investment Lands and buildings under
development”. The lower of the two fair values was the fair value provided by a local bank who has valued
the investment properties using either rent capitalisation approach or market comparison approach. The
market approach reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for similar properties and
incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the land in question, including plot size, locadon,
encumbrances, current use and construction costs. The rent capitalisation approach capitalises the monthly
estimated rental income stream, net of projected operating costs using a discount rate derived from the
market yields. When actual rent differs materially from estimated rents, adjustments have been made to the
estimated rental value. When using the estimated rental stream approach, adjustments to actual rental are
incorporated for factors such as current occupancy levels, the terms of in-place leases, expectations for rentals
from future leases and unlicensed rented areas.
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28.4 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets (continued)

Building in UAE

The building in UAE represents four office suites “Commercial units”. The lower of the two fair values was
the fair value provided by an independent valuer using a market approach that reflects observed prices for
recent matket transactions for similar properties without any significant adjustments being made to the
market observable data.

Building in Bahrain

The building in Bahrain represents a building catergorised as “Investment Buildings”. The lower of the two
fair values was the fair value provided by an independent valuer using a market approach that reflects
observed prices for recent market transactions for similar properties without any significant adjustments
being made to the market observable data.

Land in Egypt

The land in Egypt represents a land catergorised as “Investment land”. The lower of the two fair values was
the fair value provided by an independent valuer who has valued the investment properties using a market
approach that reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for similar properties and incorporates
adjustments for factors specific to the land in question, including plot size, location, encumbrances and

current use.

Further information regarding the level 3 fair value measurements is set out in the table below:

Significant Relationship of
Valuation unobservable Range of unobservable inputs to
Description technique inputs unobservable inputs fair value
Buildings in Rent capitalization Monthly economic  KD18,785 to KD24,250  Fair value increases if
Kuwait rental value (2015: KD12,550 to economic rental value
KD25,250) increases, and vise versa.
Yield rate 7% - 11.88% (2015: The higher the yield rate, the
7.9% to 12.87%) higher the value
tands and Market comparison  Estimated market  KD1,987 (2015: Higher the price per square

buildings under
development in
Kuwait

Land in Egypt

approach

Rent capitalization

Market comparison
approach

price (per m%)

Cost of
construction (per
mz)

Monthly economic
rental value

Yield rate

Estimated markel
price (per m®)

KD1,824 to KD1,924)

KD562 (2015: KD130 -
KD135)

KD11,100 = KD14,300
(2015: KD11,800 -
KD14,500)

7.66% -7.94% (2015:
8.5% to 8.93%)

KD6.26 to KD7.76
(2015; KD6.5 - KD6.6)

meter, higher the fair value

Higher the cost of
construction, higher the fair
value

Fair value increases if
economic rental value
increases, and vise versa.

The higher the yield rate, the
higher the value

Higher the price per square
meter, higher the fair value
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28 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

28.4 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets (continued)

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of investment properties classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that
are not based on observable market data. The investment properties within this level can be reconciled from
beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2016 2015

KD KD
Opening bafance 10,503,966 9,933,053
Additions 822,599 400,543
Dispaosal {40,576) (25,202)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss {16,358} 292,710
Exchange differences recognised in other comprehensive income {959,520} (97,138)
Closing balance 10,310,111 10,503,966

29 Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise, borrowings, bonds issued and accounts payable and other
liabilities. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for Group operations. The Group
has varous financial assets such as accounts receivable and other assets, cash and bank balances, short term
deposits, investment in Sukuk and investment securities which arise directly from operations.

The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial nsks: market risk (including currency sk, interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Parent Company’s board of directors sets out policies for reducing the risks discussed below.
The Group does not use derivative financial instruments.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.

29,1  Market risk

a) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the rsk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in the Middle Eastern countries, Europe and USA and is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to US Dollar, Qatari
Riyals and Euro. The Group’s balance sheet can be significandy affected by the movement in these
currencies. To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are
monitored.

Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due
within twelve months) from longer-term cash flows. Foreign currency risk is managed by the Group by
diversifying its investments geographically and monitoring the foreign cutrency movements and the Groups
open positions on a regular basis.

The Group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary
liabilities at the reporting date, translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follows:
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29.1  Market risk (continued)

a) Foreign currency risk (continued)
31 Dec. 31 Dee.
2016 2015
Equivalent Equivalent
KD KD
US Dollars 1,414,939 2,058,564
Qatari Riyal 2,133,655 2,193,569

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened against the foreign currencies by 5.7% (2015: 5.7%), then this would
have the following impact on the loss for the year. There is no impact on the Group’s equity.

Loss/profit for the year
31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2018 2015
KD KD
US Dollars (BD,652) (117,338)
Qatari Riyal (121,618) (125,033)
Total loss (202,270) (242,371)

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had weakened against the foreign currencies by 5.7% (2015: 5.7%), then there would be
an opposite impact on the loss for the year, and the negative balances shown above would be posiuve and
positive balances will be negauve.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the
transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above 1s considered to be representative of the group’s exposure to the
foreign currency risk.

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the
fair values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its short term
deposits (refer note 14} and bonds payable (refer note 23) which are both at fixed rate and floating interest
rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an approprate mix between fixed and floating rate
short term deposits and borrowings.

Positions are monitored regularly to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The following table tlustrates the sensiuvity of the loss for the year to reasonable possible change of interest
rate of +75 (0.75%) and -75 (0.75%) basis points with effect from the beginning of the year. The calculation
is based on the Group’s financial instruments held at each reportng date. All other variables are held
constant. There is no impact on Group’s equity.

Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015 2016 2015
KD KD KD KD

Increase/(decrease) in loss/profit for the year 6,088 17,586 {6,088) (17,586)
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29 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
291  Market risk (continued)

c) Price risk

This is a risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices,
whether these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting
all instruments, traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its listed
equity investments, which are primaily located in Canada and Kuwait. Equity investments are classified as
available for sale investments and investments at fair value through profit or loss.

The equity price risk sensitivity is determined on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. If
equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, the effect on the profit and other comprehensive income for the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 would have been as follows:

A positive number below indicates a decrease in loss / increase in profit and increase in the other
comprehensive income where the equity prices increase by 10%. All other variables are held constant.

Other
Loss/profit for the year comprehensive income
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015 2016 2015
KD KD KD KD

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 79,031 95,058 - -
Available for sale investments - - 31,639 86,810
79,031 95,058 31,639 86,810

For a 10% decrease in the equity prices, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the other
comprehensive income and the profit for the year, and balances shown above would be negative.

29.2  Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Group credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers
in specific locations or business through diversification of its activities.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the
reporting date, as summarized below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Cash and cash equivalents 4,240,051 5,301,713
Investment at fair value through profit or loss (note 15) 1,466,408 1,043,930
Accounts receivable and other assets {nole 16) 5,348,395 18,423,437
Investment in bonds 100,000 -
Available for sale investmenis (note 17) 4,283,242 5,961,240
15,438,096 30,730,320

Except for certain available for sale investment, investments at fair value through profit or loss and receivables
and other assets as stated in note 17, 15 and 16 respectively, none of the above financial assets are past due or
impaired. The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counter parties, identified either
individually or by Group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. Where available at
reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports on customers and other counterparties are obtained and
used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. The Group’s management considers
that all the above financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired for each of the reporting dates under
review are of good credit quality.
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29.2  Credit risk (continued)
None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

The credit nsk for cash and bank balances and short term deposits is considered negligible, since the
counterparties are reputable financial institutions with high credit quality. Information on other significant
concentrations of credit risk is set out in note 29.3

29.3 Concentration of assets
The distribution of financial assets and financial liabilities by geographic region for 2016 and 2015 is as follows:
Asia &
Kuwait GCC Africa Europe USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
At 31 December 2016
Cash and cash equivalents 1,087,735 2,940,739 209,873 1,704 - 4,240,051
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss 1,308,647 157,761 - - - 1,466,408
Accounts receivable and other
assets (refer note 16) 1,938,483 2,262,709 1,028,353 118,850 - 5,348,395
Available for sale investments 2,953,848 455,000 588,549 23,984 261,861 4,283,242
7,288,713 5,816,209 1,826,775 144,538 261,861 15,338,096
Accounts payable and other
liabilities 4,105,195 6,329,339 - - - 10,434,534
Borrowings 3,606,871 - - - - 3,606,871
Bonds issued 900,000 - - - - 900,000
8,612,066 6,329,339 - - - 14,941,405
At 31 December 2015
Cash and cash equivalents 875,718 4,344 393 79,557 2,045 - 5,301,713
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss 1,842,662 151,843 - - - 1,994,505
Accounts receivable and other
assets (refer note 16) 2,230,948 15,008,853 1,024,255 159,381 - 18,423,437
Available for sale investments 3,464,785 562,392 728,110 15,066 1,190,887 5,961,240
8,414,113 20,067,481 1,831,922 176,492 1,190,887 31,680,895
Accounts payable and other
liabilities 3,978,058 6,286,139 - - - 10,264,198
Borrowings 4,039,496 - - - - 4,039,496
Bonds issued 900,000 - - - - 900,000
8,917,555 6,286,139 - - - 15,203,694

294  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this
risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and
monitors liquidity on a regular basis.

The table below summatises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilides. Except for investments
carried at fair value through profit or loss, investment in associates, available for sale investments and
investment propetties, the maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining
period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile for investments carried
at fair value through profit or loss, investment in associates, available for sale investments and investment
properties is determined based on management’s estimate of liquidation of those investments.



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2016

55

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

294  Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity profile of all assets and lLiabilities at 31 December 2016 and 2015:

1-5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total
KD KD KD KD
At 31 December 2016
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalenls 4,240,051 - - 4,240,051
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,466,408 - - 1,466,408
Accounts receivable and other assets 5,348,195 - - 5,348,395
Investment in bonds - 400,000 - 100,000
Available for sale investments - 4,283,242 - 4,283,242
Investment in associates - 5,330,347 - 5,330,347
Investment properies - 12,494,394 - 12,494,394
Property and equipment - 143,309 - 143,309
11,054,854 22,351,292 - 33,406,146
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities 10,434,534 - - 10,434,534
Borrowings 404,624 3,202,247 - 3,606,871
Bonds - 900,000 - 900,000
Employees’ end of service indemnity - 497,596 - 497,596
10,839,158 4,589,843 - 15,439,001
At 31 December 2015
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5,301,713 - - 5,301,713
Investment in sukuk 1,994,505 - - 1,994,505
Accounts receivable and other assets 18,423,438 - - 18,423,438
Available {for sale investments - 5,961,240 - 5,961,240
Investment in associates - 9,287,632 - 9,287,632
Investment properties - 12,468,049 - 12,469,049
Property and equipment - 138,568 - 138,568
Goodwill - - 90,332 90,332
25,719,656 27,856,489 90,332 53,666,477
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities 10,264,198 - - 10,264,198
Borrowings 432,626 3,608,870 - 4,039,496
Bonds 900,000 - - 900,000
Employees’ end of service indemnity - 398,646 - 398,646
11,596,824 4,005,516 - 15,602,340
The contractual maturity of financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows are as follows:
On
demand
lup to 1 1-3 312 Over
month Months months 1 Year Total
KD KD KD KD KD
31 December 2016
Financial liabilities
Accounls payable and other liabilities 68,899 4,608 10,361,027 - 10,434,534
Borrowings 47,000 - 553,000 3,530,253 4,130,253
Bonds issued - - - 900,000 900,000
Employees' end of service indemnity - - - 497,596 497,596
115,899 4,608 10,914,027 4,927,849 15,962,383
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29.4  Liquidity risk (continued)

On
demand
lup to 1 1-3 3-12 Over
month Months months 1 Year Total
KD KD KD KD KD
31 December 2015
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 76,534 1,605 10,186,059 - 10,264,198
Borrowings - - 600,000 4,130,253 4,730,253
Bonds issued - - 907,940 - 907,940
Employees' end of service indemnity - - - 398,646 398,646
76,534 1,605 11,693,999 4,528,899 16,301,037

30 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the costs of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic
conditions and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, buy back shares, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year as compared to the
previous year. The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Barrowings (refer note 22) 3,606,871 4,039,496
Bonds (refer note 23) 800,000 900,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents {refer note 14) {4,240,051) (5,301,713}
Net debt 266,820 (362,217)
Total equity 17,967,145 38,064,137
Total Capital 18,233,965 37,701,920

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio.
The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position plus net debt.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2016 2015
KD KD
Net debt 266,820 (362,217)
Total capital 18,233,965 37,701,920

Gearing ratio 1.46% -
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31 Assets under management

‘The Group manages mutual funds, portfolios on behalf of its major sharcholders, other related parties and
outsiders, and maintains securities in fiduciary accounts which are not reflected in the Group's statement of
financial positon. Assets under management at 31 December 2016 amounted to KID50,480,335 (31
December 2015: KD51,762,376 of which assets managed on behalf of its related parties amounted to KD Nil
(31 December 2015: KID10,000,000).

During the year total fees earned by the Group from assets under management amounted to KID75,147
(2015: KDG63,762)

32 Proposed dividend

The Board of Directors proposed not to distribute any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016. Th15
proposal is subject to the approval of the general assembly of the sharcholders. No dividends were distributed
for the year ended 31 December 2015,

33 Capital commitment

As of 31 December 2016, the Group has capital commitments with regard to its investment properties under
development amounting to KI290,000 (31 December 2015: KID520,000).



